
  
 

 
 

1 
 
 

Agenda 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

June 26, 2025 

D32-33 

 

  June 26, 2025 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

 



  
 

 
 

2 
 
 

Agenda 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda 

One Maritime Plaza, 2nd Floor, Classrooms A & B 

Thursday, June 26, 2025, at 8:00 a.m. 

I. Call to Order Page No. 

II. Roll Call  

III. Public Comment Period  

IV. Report and Communications from the Chair: Robin Whitney  

 A. Presentation by Consul General Bird, Consulate General of Canada-

Detroit 

 

V. Report of the President and CEO: Thomas J. Winston  

VI. Consent Agenda  

 A. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes  4-8 

 B. Operating Results through May 2025 9-19 

 C. Consider Lease with Xcel Properties LLC for Land at Eugene F. Kranz 

Toledo Express Airport 

20-21 

 D. Financing Programs Dashboard 22 

 E. BetterBuildings Northwest Ohio Dashboard 23 

 F. Northwest Ohio Bond Fund Trustee Report 24 

 G. Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport Statistics 25 

 H. Seaport Statistics 26 

 I. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Plaza Statistics  27 

 J. Diversified Contractors Accelerator Program Report 28 

VII. Recommendations and Reports from Standing Committees   

 A. Finance & Development Committee: John Szuch, chair  

  1. Consider Issuance of Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds to Finance the 

Acquisition, Renovation, Rehabilitation, Development, Furnishing, 

29-42 



  
 

 
 

3 
 
 

Agenda 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

June 26, 2025 

and Equipping of a 200-unit Multifamily Residential Facility Known 

as Lima Towers (up to $25 Million) 

  2. Consider Shipyard Road Improvement Project 43-44 

     a.  Exhibit A 45 

  3. Consider Acceptance of Small Community Air Service 

Development Program Grant from U.S. Department of 

Transportation and Authorize Air Service Development 

Agreements 

46-49 

 B. Planning & Operations Committee: Kimberly Cutcher, chair  

  1. Consider Contract for Parking Structures Restoration 2025 at Port 

Lawrence, Superior & Vistula Parking Structures 

50-52 

  2. Consider Acceptance of Roadway Development (629) Funds from 

Ohio Department of Development for Farnsworth Business Park 

53-54 

 C. Government, Community & Human Relations Committee: Suzette 
Cowell, chair 

 

VIII. Other Business  

IX. Adjournment  

 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

4 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (A) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Meeting Minutes of the Board of Directors  

Thursday, April 24, 2025 

 
ROLL CALL 
 

The 3rd meeting in 2025 of the Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority Board of Directors 
was called to order at 8:07 a.m. on Thursday, April 24, 2025, at One Maritime Plaza, Toledo, 
Ohio. 
 

The following members were present: Chair Robin Whitney, Vice Chair Christine 
Castellano, Michael Beazley, Wayne Blanchard, Kimberly Cutcher, David Fleetwood, Amy Hall, 
Joshua Hughes, Nadeem Salem, and John Szuch.  
 

The following members were absent:  William Carroll, Suzette Cowell, and Sharon Speyer. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
 
Chair Whitney invited comments from the public. Hearing none, she proceeded with the order of 
business. 
 
REPORT AND COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE CHAIR: ROBIN WHITNEY 
 
In consideration of the robust agenda, Chair Whitney proceeded with the order of business.  

A. Update on Route 23 Connect Corridor Project 

Chair Whitney welcomed Brian Dicken, the Vice President for Advocacy and Strategic 
Initiatives with the Toledo Regional Chamber of Commerce, to provide an update on the Route 
23 connect corridor project.  Upon conclusion of his remarks, Mr. Dicken thanked the Port 
Authority, specifically Thomas Winston, for the Port Authority’s partnership in the project and 
invited the Port Authority’s Board and leadership to attend upcoming meetings on the topic, 
including the 2025 Chamber Meeting set for April 29 and the Capitol Conversations in Columbus 
on May 21 of this year.  

Chair Whitney thanked Mr. Dicken for the presentation.   

REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT AND CEO: THOMAS J. WINSTON 
 

Mr. Winston welcomed everyone to the meeting and extended thanks to Brian Dicken for 
his work related to the Route 23 Connect Corridor Project and for the partnership with the 
Chamber, including as well that the Port Authority would be attending the meetings referenced by 
Mr. Dicken.  

 
Mr. Winston highlighted an upcoming Lunch & Learn session at the Chamber offices in 

May which would allow the Port Authority to present on its finance program offerings.  Mr. Winston 
next drew attention to the construction activity outside One Maritime Plaza, reminding the Board 



  
 

 
 

5 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (A) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Members of the partnership with Metroparks to extend the riverwalk in front of the buildings on 
Water Street.  Mr. Winston reported that the 2024 audit is currently underway and thanked Kathy 
Despoth, Josh Strickland and the team who are working towards the goal of June completion.  
Additionally, he reported that federal and state grants continued to move forward with payments 
being received in a timely manner.    

 
Mr. Winston reported on upcoming events, which included the Toledo Air Show taking 

place on May 10 and 11 at Toledo Express Airport and the scheduled visit of a Victory Cruise 
Line ship which is docking at One Maritime Plaza on May 30, noting the partnership with the 
National Museum of the Great Lakes to secure that opportunity.  

 
Mr. Winston concluded by referencing his report regarding the acquisition of goods, 

equipment and material and services for the quarter ending March 31, 2025, and responded to 
questions posed by members of the board.  
 
CONSENT AGENDA  
 

Chair Whitney presented the following Consent Agenda, copies having been distributed 
in advance to all directors, and asked if there were any comments or questions. Hearing none, 
upon a motion made by Director Cutcher to adopt the Consent Agenda and seconded by Director 
Fleetwood, the Consent Agenda was unanimously adopted as submitted:   
 

A. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes   

B. Operating Results through March 2025  

C. Financing Programs Dashboard  

D. BetterBuildings Northwest Ohio Dashboard  

E. Northwest Ohio Bond Fund Trustee Report  

F. Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport Statistics  

G. Diversified Contractors Accelerator Program Report  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND REPORTS FROM STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
FINANCE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

Director Szuch, Chair of the Finance & Development Committee, referred to the current 
Operating Results and dashboards found in the packet. 
 

A. Consider Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Finance the Acquisition and Construction 

of a Building to be Used for Office, Warehouse and Manufacturing Facility to be 

Leased to YMG Realty, LLC. or a Party Related Thereto (up to $15 Million) 

 
Director Szuch reported that with the Port Authority has been requested to issue up to 
$15,000,000 of taxable development revenue bonds ("Bonds”) to acquire, construct, 
improve and equip an approximately 95,335 square foot office/warehouse/ manufacturing 
building to be located on an approximately 20-acre site in Maumee, Ohio. The Project will 



  
 

 
 

6 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (A) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

be leased to YMG Realty, LLC. or another special purpose entity established by The 
Yarder Manufacturing Company and/or WMOG, Inc, pursuant to a capital lease with a 
minimum 5-year term.  The Company has estimated that the total costs of the Project will 
be $11,840,400.   
 
The Chair of the Finance & Development Committee recommended the issuance of 
revenue bonds to pay the costs of acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping the 
Project, the appointment of the Company as the Port Authority's construction agent, and 
the lease of the Project to the Company.   
 
Following discussion, upon the motion of Director Beazley, seconded by Director 
Fleetwood, and unanimously carried,  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 15-25 
 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF PORT AUTHORITY REVENUE 
BONDS, IN A MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $15,000,000, BY THE 
TOLEDO-LUCAS COUNTY PORT AUTHORITY FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
FINANCING A PORTION OF THE COSTS OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND 
OTHERWISE IMPROVING “PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES” WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF OHIO REVISED CODE SECTION 4582.01, FOR THE BENEFIT OF 
YMG REALTY, LLC OR AN AFFILIATE; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 
AND DELIVERY OF RELATED DOCUMENTS AND MATTERS 

 
was adopted. The resolution in its full text is incorporated in the Resolutions Journal of the 
Port Authority. 

 
B. Consider Issuance of Revenue Bonds to Finance the Acquisition and Construction 

of a Building to be used for a 60-unit, 63,000 Square Foot Senior Housing Facility to 

be Leased to The Landings at Delta Crossing, LLC (up to $20 million)  

 
Director Szuch reported that the Port Authority has been requested to issue up to 
$20,000,000 of taxable development revenue bonds to acquire, construct, improve and 
equip an approximately 60-unit  63,000 square foot building to be used as a senior housing 
facility to be located on an approximately 3-acre site in Maumee, Ohio.  The Project will 
be leased to The Landings at Delta Crossing, LLC. pursuant to a capital lease, with a 
minimum 5-year term.  The Company has estimated that the total costs of the Project will 
be $20,000,148.  
 
The Chair of the Finance & Development Committee recommended the issuance of 
revenue bonds to pay the costs of acquiring, constructing, improving and equipping the 
Project, the appointment of the Company as the Port Authority's construction agent, and 
the lease of the Project to the Company.  
 
Following discussion, upon the motion of Director Fleetwood, seconded by Director 
Cutcher, and unanimously carried,  
 
 



  
 

 
 

7 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (A) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 16-25 
 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF PORT AUTHORITY REVENUE 
BONDS, IN A MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $20,000,000, BY THE TOLEDO-
LUCAS COUNTY PORT AUTHORITY FOR THE PURPOSE OF FINANCING A 
PORTION OF THE COSTS OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING AND OTHERWISE 
IMPROVING “PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES” WITHIN THE MEANING OF OHIO 
REVISED CODE SECTION 4582.01, FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE LANDINGS AT 
DELTA CROSSING, LLC OR AN AFFILIATE; AND AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF RELATED DOCUMENTS AND MATTERS 

 
was adopted. The resolution in its full text is incorporated in the Resolutions Journal of the 
Port Authority. 

 
C. Consider Acquisition and Development of Property Related to the Activation and/or 

Stabilization of the Toledo Innovation Post Project  

 
Director Szuch reminded the Board that it previously authorized the execution of a grant 
agreement received from the State of Ohio’s Office of Budget and Management in the 
amount of $3,000,000 to assist with activities related to the activation and/or stabilization 
of the Toledo Innovation Post (formerly known as the Toledo Innovation Center) located 
at 1300 Jefferson Avenue in downtown Toledo.  Consistent with those activities, several 
parcels in downtown Toledo have been identified for potential acquisition to increase the 
available parking opportunities for current and potential tenants of the Toledo Innovation 
Post.  It was recommended that the President be authorized to enter into purchase 
agreements and acquire properties identified as consistent with the activation and/or 
stabilization of the Toledo Innovation Post, following a period of due diligence to perform 
necessary pre-development work, including environmental assessment and surveying 
with the President reporting to the Board of Directors when property is purchased. 
 
The Chair of the Finance & Development Committee recommended that the President be 
authorized to execute purchase agreements and other documents related to the 
acquisition and development of the properties, the costs of such agreements to be funded 
by the OBM Grant proceeds as described.  
 
Following discussion, upon the motion of Director Cutcher, seconded by Director 
Fleetwood, and unanimously carried,  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-25 
 

AUTHORIZING ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY RELATED TO 
THE ACTIVATION AND/OR STABILIZATION OF THE TOLEDO INNOVATION POST 
PROJECT 

 
was adopted. The resolution in its full text is incorporated in the Resolutions Journal of the 
Port Authority. 
 

 



  
 

 
 

8 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (A) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

PLANNING & OPERATIONS 
 

A. Consider Contract for New Airfield Lighting Control & Monitoring System (ALCMS) 

at Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport (TOL)  

 
Director Cutcher reported that the Airfield Lighting Control & Monitoring System at Eugene 
F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport which controls the various airfield lighting systems 
including runway, approach, taxiway, and apron, and further allows the lights to be 
switched off and on, both individually and in groups which has started to exhibit issues 
with functioning and is nearing the end of its useful life, requiring it to be replaced.  ADB 
Safegate has been identified as the preferred contractor for this project by utilizing 
Sourcewell, a cooperative purchasing provider, at a cost of $163,121.18. In addition, the 
project will also require electrical work for a total project cost up to $185,000 which would 
be paid from Airport Reserves and/or previously appropriated funds. 
 
The Chair of the Planning & Operations Committee recommended that the President be 
authorized to enter into a contract with ADB Safegate in the amount of $163,121.18 that 
payment in the amount of $185,000, including up to an additional 10% contingency, be 
further authorized, as described above.  

 
Following discussion, upon motion of Director Hughes, seconded by Director Fleetwood, 
and unanimously carried,  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-25 
 

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT FOR NEW AIRFIELD LIGHTING CONTROL & 
MONITORING SYSTEM (ALCMS) AT EUGENE F. KRANZ TOLEDO EXPRESS 
AIRPORT 

 
was adopted. The resolution in its full text is incorporated in the Resolutions Journal of the 
Port Authority. 

 
GOVERNMENT, COMMUNITY & HUMAN RELATIONS 
  
 No Report 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

None 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
 There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:00 a.m. 

 

 



  
 

 
 

9 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Operating Results Through May 2025 

The Operating Statements through May 2025 show $1,720,896 excess operating 

revenue over operating expense. This is ahead of budget by $386,065 with revenues 

under budget by $24,130 and expenses falling under budget by $410,194. 

Airport Division revenues of $2,545,068 were over budget by $77,418. Airport 

expenses of $2,360,763 were over budget by $21,425. Seaport Division revenues of 

$1,029,662 were under budget by $897.  Seaport expenses of $318,481 were under 

budget by $142,654.  Facilities and Development Division revenues of $3,673,604 were 

under budget by $100,652. Facilities and Development expenses of $2,848,194 were 

under budget by $288,966. The 2025 Operating Budget estimates a fund balance of 

$2,382,309 by the end of the year.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

.   



  
 

 
 

10 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 



  
 

 
 

11 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 



  
 

 
 

12 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Total Operating Budget  

May 2025 

 
 

 



  
 

 
 

13 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Airport Operating Budget  

May 2025 

 
 

 

 



  
 

 
 

14 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Seaport Operating Budget  

May 2025 

 
 

 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

15 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Facilities & Development Operating Budget  

May 2025 

 
 

 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

16 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Administration Operating Budget  

May 2025 

 
 

 



  
 

 
 

17 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Unappropriated Reserve Funds  

May 2025 

 
 

 



  
 

 
 

18 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Passenger Facility Charge Activity Through May 2025 

 
 

Investment Report 

 



  
 

 
 

19 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (B) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 



  
 

 
 

20 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (C) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Lease with Xcel Properties, LLC for Land at Eugene 

F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport 

 

In May 2024 the Board of Directors authorized a one-year lease with Xcel 

Properties, LLC for the utilization of up to 69 acres of space on the cargo apron at Toledo 

Express Airport for the storage of vehicles and semi-trailers.      

Xcel Properties LLC would like to lease the property for another year through May 

31, 2026.  Xcel Properties LLC has agreed to pay a minimum of $5,000.00 per month 

during months when the area is not utilized and $800 per acre per month as the area is 

utilized in allotments of 10 acres each.  The agreement also includes a provision that the 

Port Authority may terminate or suspend the agreement with notice if there is a substitute 

aeronautical use of the apron that the Port wished to pursue.   

The Finance & Development Committee recommends authorizing the President to 

enter into a lease with Xcel Properties LLC as described above.  

 



  
 

 
 

21 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (C) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

AUTHORIZING LEASE WITH XCEL PROPERTIES, LLC 

 FOR LAND AT EUGENE F. KRANZ TOLEDO EXPRESS AIRPORT 

 
WHEREAS, an agreement has been negotiated with Xcel Properties, LLC to utilize up to 

sixty-nine (69) acres of vacant land on the south cargo apron at Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express 
Airport for the storage of vehicles and trailers; and 

 
WHEREAS, such use is compatible with airport operations;  
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority: 
 

That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 
an agreement with Xcel Properties, LLC for the lease of property at Eugene F. Kranz Toledo 
Express Airport, which agreement shall include the following terms and conditions: 

 
PREMISES: Up to sixty-nine (69) acres of vacant land located on the south cargo apron 
 
RENTAL:  A minimum of $5,000 per month during months when the Premises are 

not utilized; when utilized, a rate of $800 per acre per month with a 
minimum of ten (10) acres.  

 
TERM: One (1) year, commencing June 1, 2025 and terminating May 31, 2026; 

the Port Authority may terminate or suspend the agreement with thirty (30) 
days of notice if there is an aeronautical use of the apron that the Port 
Authority wishes to pursue. 

 
OTHER: Such other terms and conditions as the President deems necessary or 

appropriate. 
 

That the President as Secretary and Fiscal Officer be and hereby is authorized to execute 
any other instruments necessary or appropriate, including amendments, in order to implement the 
terms of this resolution, provided such instruments are in a form approved by Counsel and 
approved in substance by the Vice President of Business Development. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas:   Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:        _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

22 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (D) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Financing Programs Dashboard 

 



  
 

 
 

23 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (E) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

BetterBuildings Northwest Ohio Dashboard 

 



  
 

 
 

24 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (F) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Northwest Ohio Bond Fund Trustee Report 

 



  
 

 
 

25 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (G) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport Statistics 

 

 



  
 

 
 

26 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (H) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Seaport Statistics 

 

 
 

0

500000

1000000

1500000

2000000

2500000

3000000

3500000

2022 2023 2024 2025



  
 

 
 

27 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (I) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Plaza Statistics 

 



  
 

 
 

28 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VI (J) 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Diversified Contractors Accelerator Program Report 

 
 



  
 

 
 

29 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Issuance of Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds to Finance 

the Acquisition, Renovation, Rehabilitation, Development, 

Furnishing, and Equipping of a 200-unit Multifamily 

Residential Facility Known as Lima Towers (up to $25 

Million) 
 

The Port Authority has been requested to issue up to $25,000,000 of tax-exempt 

revenue obligations ("Obligations"), in one or more series, to fund the acquisition, 

renovation, rehabilitation, developing, furnishing and equipping of a 200-unit senior 

multifamily residential facility known as the Lima Towers (the “Project”).  The Project will 

be developed by Lima Towers Acquisition L.P. (the “Developer”) and will be leased to 

Lima Towers Preservation L.P. (the “Lessee”).  The Developer and Lessee are affiliates 

of Essence, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Essence”). The Port Authority 

previously adopted an inducement resolution for this Project in August of 2024 and such 

inducement will not terminate except in accordance with Treas. Reg. 1.150-2(d).  The 

adoption of this inducement ensured that the cost of acquisition of the Project by Essence 

would qualify for financing with tax-exempt bonds. 

The Project is a multifamily residential facility that primarily serves the elderly and 

is located at 790 S. Main Street, within a mile of downtown Lima, Ohio. The total 

residential square footage of the building is 152,658. The property spans 2.53  acres, with 

an elevator-serviced, seven-story building. A Section 8 Housing Assistance Payments 

(HAP) contract covers all 200 units and is set to expire in 2034.   Essence intends to 

extend its HAP contracts for an additional 20 years.  The Project will create approximately 

40 construction jobs. 



  
 

 
 

30 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Pursuant to a Ground Lease between the Lessee and the Port Authority, the Port 

Authority will acquire a leasehold interest in the Project. Pursuant to a Non-Financing 

Lease (the “Lease”), the Lessee will lease the Project from the Port Authority. 

Construction of the Project is expected to begin in September 2025 and is 

expected to be completed by September 2026.  

It is contemplated that the Port Authority will issue up to $25,000,000 of tax-exempt 

revenue obligations, the proceeds of which will be used to fund the Project.  Under the 

Project Loan Agreement, the Lessee will  agree to make loan payments in an amount 

sufficient to pay the obligations.  The obligations will be payable solely from such loan 

payments and will not otherwise be an obligation of the Port Authority.    

 The Finance & Development Committee recommends adoption of the following 

resolution authorizing the issuance of the tax-exempt revenue obligations as described 

above, the appointment of the Lessee or its affiliates as the Port Authority's construction 

agent, and the lease of the Project to the Lessee.   

 

 



  
 

 
 

31 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ___ 

AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT TO EXCEED $25,000,000 

AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF REVENUE BONDS IN ONE OR MORE 

SERIES TO FINANCE COSTS OF ACQUIRING, RENOVATING, REHABILITATING, 

DESIGNING, DEVELOPING, EQUIPPING, FURNISHING, INSTALLING, 

IMPROVING AND OTHERWISE DEVELOPING “PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES” 

WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 4582.01, OHIO REVISED CODE; 

AUTHORIZING THE PORT AUTHORITY TO ACQUIRE AN INTEREST IN THE 

SITE, EXECUTE AND DELIVER A CONSTRUCTION SERVICE PROVIDER 

AGREEMENT AND AUTHORIZE THE CONTRACTS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 

THOSE PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES; AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND 

DELIVERY OF A LEASE OF THOSE PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES TO LIMA 

TOWERS ACQUISITION , L.P.; OR AN AFFILIATE THEREOF, AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT, PROJECT 

LOAN AGREEMENT AND OTHER AGREEMENTS, INSTRUMENTS AND 

DOCUMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE, SALE AND DELIVERY OF, AND 

TERMS OF AND SECURITY FOR, THOSE REVENUE BONDS OR OTHERWISE 

APPROPRIATE TO THE FINANCING OF THOSE PORT AUTHORITY FACILITIES; 

AND AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING RELATED MATTERS. 

WHEREAS, the Toledo-Lucas County Port Authority, a port authority and political 

subdivision established under the laws of the State of Ohio (the “Authority” or the “Issuer”), is 

authorized and empowered by virtue of those laws, particularly Article VIII, Sections 13 and 16 of 

the Ohio Constitution and Sections 4582.01 through 4582.20 of the Ohio Revised Code (as 

enacted or amended from time to time, the “Act”), and the authorities therein mentioned:  (i) to 

issue its revenue bonds for the purpose of financing and refinancing costs of acquiring title to or 

interest in and acquiring, constructing, designing, developing, equipping, installing, furnishing, 

improving and developing “port authority facilities,” that further “authorized purposes” both as 

defined in the Act, including facilities that enhance the availability of adequate housing in the State 

of Ohio (the “State”), that are for industry, commerce, distribution or research to create and 

preserve jobs and employment opportunities that are available to residents or otherwise promote 

economic development within its jurisdiction and the State or which are authorized by Sections 

13 or 16 of the Ohio Constitution and to refund such revenue bonds; (ii) to lease such port 

authority facilities to provide rental payments and other revenues, and to provide for the pledge 

or assignment of those revenues, together with other amounts available therefor, expected to be 

sufficient to pay the principal of and interest and any premium or other service charges on those 

revenue bonds; (iii) to acquire interests in real or personal property, or any combination thereof, 



  
 

 
 

32 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

and acquire, rehabilitate, equip, design, develop, install, furnish, improve and develop port  

authority facilities and enter into agreements with respect to the acquisition, rehabilitation, 

equipping, designing, developing, furnishing, installing, improving developing, leasing, operation, 

use and management of such port authority facilities, all for “authorized purposes” of the Issuer, 

(iv) to make and enter into such contracts and agreements, and to execute and deliver all such 

instruments as may be necessary, proper, appropriate or otherwise included in or for the exercise 

of powers otherwise granted to the Issuer under or pursuant to the Act; (v) to approve the manner 

of contracting for the acquisition, rehabilitation, renovation, installation, furnishing, improving, 

equipping, designing and developing of such port authority facilities and (vi) to enact this 

Resolution, to issue, sell and deliver the Series 2025 Obligations (as defined herein) and sign and 

deliver the documents and instruments hereby approved, all upon the terms and conditions 

provided herein and therein; 

WHEREAS, Lima Towers Acquisition, L.P  a New York limited partnership (together with 
any successor or permitted assignee, including any affiliate thereof, the “Lessee”) has requested 
that the Issuer:  (i) enter into a ground lease for a site located at 790 S. Main Street in the City of 
Lima, Allen County, Ohio (the “Project Site”) from the Lessee to the Issuer , (ii) acquire, 
rehabilitate, renovate, equip, install, furnish, improve and develop (herein to “Construct” or the 
“Construction” of) a 200-unit multifamily residential rental project,  known as Lima Towers (the 
“Project Facilities” and together with the Project Site, the “Project”), (iii) enter into the Lease 
Agreement (as hereinafter defined) for the Project from the Issuer to the Lessee for use as a 
multifamily housing residential rental facility for low and moderate income tenants (the “Project 
Purposes”), (iv) provide financing and refinancing of the acquisition of the Project Site and the 
Construction of the Project Facilities by issuing revenue bonds of the Issuer in one or more series, 
including if necessary taxable and tax-exempt bonds with such series and title designations as 
agreed to by an Authorized Official (as defined herein) (collectively, the “Series 2025 Obligations”) 
to be sold, pursuant to the terms of this resolution and the Funding Loan Agreement, to the original 
purchaser, thereof (v) paying interest on all or a portion of the Series 2025 Obligations, if 
necessary, and  (vi) paying costs of issuing the Series 2025 Obligations, all as further described 
in the Term Sheet; 

WHEREAS, the Development and financing of the Project in the manner contemplated 
herein, and the leasing of the Project to the Lessee for the Project Purposes, will enhance the 
availability of adequate housing in the State, assist in the development of facilities for commerce 
and housing for individuals or families, and will create and preserve jobs and employment 
opportunities that are available to residents or otherwise promote economic development within 
its jurisdiction and in the State or which are authorized by Sections 13 or 16 of the Ohio 
Constitution, and the Issuer is authorized and empowered by and pursuant to the Act to Develop 
the Project, issue the Series 2025 Obligations, and to lease the Project to the Lessee, all on the 
terms and conditions authorized hereby; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 31-24 (the “Inducement Resolution) of  this Board, 
adopted on August 22, 2024, this Board previously expressed it conditional intention to issue 
Obligation in an amount sufficient to pay costs of the Project. 

WHEREAS, this Board of Directors has determined, at the request of and based upon 
representations made by the Lessee, to authorize, subject to the conditions set forth in this 



  
 

 
 

33 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

resolution, the entry into a ground lease for the Project Site (the “Ground Lease”), the Construction 
of the Project Facilities pursuant to the Construction Service Provider Agreement, the issuance 
and sale of the Series 2025 Obligations to provide financing or refinancing, as applicable, of the 
Project and the leasing of the Project to the Lessee pursuant to the Lease Agreement;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority that: 

Section 1. Certain Definitions.  The captions and headings in this resolution are solely for 
convenience of reference and do not define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions 
or sections of this resolution.  Each capitalized word or term used as a defined term but not 
otherwise defined in this resolution, or by reference to another document, shall have the meaning 
assigned to it in the recitals hereto, the hereinafter defined Funding Loan Agreement or as set 
forth in this Section 1.  All references to any Operative Document are to the form of that Operative 
Document as on file with the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, as such Operative 
Document may be modified, in accordance with this resolution, prior to its execution and delivery 
on the Closing Date. 

“Authorized Official” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4 hereof. 

“Bonds” or “Obligations” means the Series 2025 Obligations. 

“Bond Counsel” means Ice Miller LLP or such other firm of nationally-recognized bond 
counsel that may be approved by an Authorized Official of the Issuer. 

“Bond Legislation” means, with respect to the Series 2025 Obligations this resolution 
authorizing the Series 2025 Obligations and the Certificate of Award, as either or both may be 
amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Bond Service Charges” means for any period or payable at any time, the principal of and 
interest and any premium required to be paid by the Issuer on the Series 2025 Obligations for 
that period or payable at that time, whether due by maturity, upon acceleration, by call for 
redemption, or otherwise. 

“Capitalized Interest” means the construction period interest to be paid with respect to the 
Series 2025 Obligations from the proceeds of the Series 2025 Obligations, as established in or 
pursuant to the Certificate of Award and provided by or pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement 
and, to the extent applicable, the Lease Agreement or Construction Service Provider Agreement. 

“Certificate of Award” means the certificate, if any,  to be signed by any Authorized Official, 
awarding the Series 2025 Obligations to the Original Purchaser thereof and setting forth the terms 
thereof as described in this Resolution. 

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Series 2025 Obligations are issued. 

“Construction Service Provider” means the entity then serving as construction service 
provider under the Construction Service Provider Agreement, and shall initially mean Lima 
Towers Acquisition, L.P., unless otherwise determined by an Authorized Official in accordance 
with the terms of the Construction Service Provider Agreement. 



  
 

 
 

34 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

“Construction Service Provider Agreement” means the Construction Service Provider 
Agreement, to be entered into between the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer and the Construction Service 
Provider simultaneously with the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations, as further amended 
and supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms. 

 “Construction Contracts” means the contract or contracts for the Construction of the 
Project Facilities between the Construction Service Provider on behalf of the Issuer, and one or 
more contractors, as amended from time to time in accordance with their terms. 

“Costs of Issuance” means all costs and expenses incurred by the Lessee or the Issuer in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Series 2025 Obligations, including without limitation 
(i) reasonable fees and expenses of accountants, attorneys, engineers, and financial advisors, 
(ii) materials, supplies, and printing and engraving costs, (iii) recording and filing fees and 
(iv) rating agency fees. 

“Develop”, “Developing” or “Development” means acquisition, construction, design, 
development, rehabilitation, furnishing or equipping of any real or personal property, or any 
combination thereof. 

“Fiscal Agent” means an entity selected by the Lessee and acceptable to the Issuer, as 
fiscal agent under the Funding Loan Agreement, or any successor fiscal agent thereunder, or any 
other institution qualified to exercise corporate trust powers that may be designated in the 
Certificate of Award. 

“Funding Loan Agreement” means the Funding Loan Agreement among the Issuer, the 
original owner of the Series 2025 Obligations and the Fiscal Agent, as the same may be from 
time to time amended in conformity with its terms.  

“Lease Agreement” means the Lease Agreement between the Lessee and the Issuer 
related to the Project, as the same may be from time to time amended in conformity with its terms 
and with the Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Operative Documents” means, to the extent applicable to the Development, financing or 
leasing of the Project, the Series 2025 Obligations, the Construction Contracts, the Construction 
Service Provider Agreement, Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement, the Lease 
Agreement, the Ground Lease and the Regulatory Agreement. 

“Original Purchaser” means the original purchaser or purchasers designated in the 
Certificate of Award or the Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Project Loan Agreement” means the Project Loan Agreement among the Issuer, the 
Lessee and the Fiscal Agent, as the same may be from time to time amended in conformity with 
its terms and with the Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Project Revenues” means (a) the rental payments made under the Lease Agreement, 

(b) all other moneys received or to be received by the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent and pledged to 

the holders of the Series 2025 Obligations pursuant to the Funding Loan Agreement and the 



  
 

 
 

35 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Project Loan Agreement, or otherwise as a result of the exercise of remedies under the Operative 

Documents, 

(c) the proceeds from the sale of the Series 2025 Obligations, (d) any money and 
investments in the funds established under the Funding Loan Agreement to the extent provided 
therein, and (e) all income and profit from the foregoing moneys.  “Project Revenues” do not 
include any amounts designated as issuer fees or paid in connection with Unassigned Issue 
Rights under the Funding Loan Agreement, the Project Loan Agreement or as Additional Rent 
under the Lease Agreement. 

“Regulatory Agreement” means the Regulatory Agreement among the Issuer, the Fiscal 
Agent and the Lessee dated as of even date with the Lease. 

“Series 2025 Obligations” means the port authority revenue bonds issued pursuant to the 
Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Term Sheet” means the Preliminary Financing Term Sheet between the Lessee and the 
Issuer. 

Section 2.  Findings and Determinations; Authorization of Series 2025 Obligations.  This 
Board finds and determines, based, in part, upon representations of the Lessee, that: 

(a) It is necessary to, and the Issuer shall, issue, sell and deliver, as provided and authorized 

herein and in accordance with the Funding Loan Agreement and pursuant to the authority of the 

Act, the Series 2025 Obligations, in one or more series, in the aggregate principal amount 

determined in the Funding Loan Agreement, but in any event not to exceed $25,000,000 for the 

purpose of providing funds, to pay costs of Developing the Project (including Costs of Issuance, 

other related transaction expenses and capitalized interest and other fees and charges capitalized 

with respect thereto for a period not exceeding thirty-six months), all as further described in the 

Term Sheet; 

(b) The Project constitutes “port authority facilities” within the meaning of that term as defined in 

Section 4582.01-.21 of the Act, and is in furtherance of the purposes set forth in the Act, and will 

assist in the development of facilities for commerce and enhance the availability of adequate 

housing for individuals or families in the State, and will create and preserve jobs and employment 

opportunities that are available to residents or otherwise promote economic development within 

its jurisdiction and in the State or which are authorized by Sections 13 or 16 of the Ohio 

Constitution; 

(c) The Project is consistent with the purposes of Sections 13 and 16 of Article VIII, Ohio 

Constitution, to create or preserve jobs and employment opportunities and to improve the 

economic welfare of the people of the State and to enhance the availability of adequate housing 

for individuals and families in the State; 

(d) Development of the Project requires the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations; 



  
 

 
 

36 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

(e) The terms of the Series 2025 Obligations contained in the draft Operative Documents now on 

file with the fiscal officer of the Issuer, or as shall be approved in the Certificate of Award 

authorized hereby, or in the Operative Documents executed and delivered in accordance 

herewith, are satisfactory and are hereby approved; 

(f) It is necessary and proper and in the best interest of the Issuer to, and the Issuer shall (i) enter 

into the Ground Lease, (ii) enter into the Construction Service Provider Agreement to provide for 

the Construction of the Project Facilities and (iii) lease the Project to the Lessee pursuant to the 

Lease Agreement and in accordance with the other Operative Documents; 

(g) This Board intends that the inducement set forth in the Inducement Resolution shall be 

deemed to continue unless terminated in accordance with Treas. Reg. 1.150-2(d). 

Section 3.  Terms and Provisions of Series 2025 Obligations.  The Series 2025 Obligations 
shall be issued under and secured by the Funding Loan Agreement.  The Series 2025 Obligations 
shall be signed by any two Authorized Officials or member of the Board, in their official capacities, 
provided that either or both of those signatures may be facsimiles. 

The Series 2025 Obligations (i) shall be issuable only in fully registered form in the form 
provided in the Funding Loan Agreement with such further designations as agreed to by an 
Authorized Official; (ii) shall be exchangeable for Series 2025 Obligations of authorized 
denominations, but only as provided in the Funding Loan Agreement; (iii) shall be numbered in a 
manner determined by the Fiscal Agent that will distinguish each Series 2025 Obligation from 
each other Series 2025 Obligation and each series of Series 2025 Obligations from any other 
series of Series 2025 Obligations; (iv) shall be in the denominations authorized in the Funding 
Loan Agreement; (v) shall be dated as of the date of their initial issuance and delivery, or, such 
other date or dates as may be specified in the Funding Loan Agreement or other Operative 
Documents; (vi) shall be subject to optional and mandatory redemption in the amounts, at the 
times and prices, and upon the conditions for which provision is made in the Funding Loan 
Agreement or other Operative Documents; (vii) shall be payable in such manner and at such time 
or times and at such place or places for which provision is made in the Funding Loan Agreement 
or other Operative Documents; (viii) shall be stated to mature, in one or more installments, as 
shall be specified in the Funding Loan Agreement, but in any event not later than December 31, 
2063; (ix) shall bear interest at a fixed or variable interest rate or rates per year as set forth in the 
Funding Loan Agreement, with an initial weighted average interest rate not to exceed 10% per 
annum; (x) shall bear interest from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or duly 
provided for or, if no interest has been paid or duly provided for, from their date, and such interest 
shall be payable on the interest payment dates for which provision is made in the Funding Loan 
Agreement; (xi) shall be issued as taxable or tax-exempt bonds, or in separate series consisting 
of taxable and tax-exempt bonds; and (xii) shall be issued on a parity or may be secured 
separately or share common security in a senior/subordinate structure.  The Series 2025 
Obligations may be designated as “revenue obligations” in Operative Documents. 

The provisions of the Series 2025 Obligations and Operative Documents shall be 
consistent with the provisions of the Term Sheet, with such changes as may be approved by any 
Authorized Official signing the Series 2025 Obligations or Operative Documents. 



  
 

 
 

37 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Section 4.  Sale of the Series 2025 Obligations.  The Series 2025 Obligations shall be sold 
and awarded to the Original Purchaser through the advancement of the loan amount pursuant to 
the Funding Loan Agreement, at a purchase price not less than 93% of the aggregate principal 
amount of the Series 2025 Obligations to be sold pursuant thereto.  It is hereby determined that 
the purchase price and the manner of sale and the terms of any Series 2025 Obligations so sold 
and issued, as provided in this Resolution, the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan 
Agreement, are consistent with all legal requirements and will carry out the public purposes of the 
Act. 

Each of the President or any Assistant Secretary and Fiscal Officer of the Issuer (each, 
an “Authorized Official” and collectively, the “Authorized Officials”), is hereby authorized, and at 
least one such Authorized Official is hereby authorized, to determine and state, or to approve 
such matters concerning the sale of the Series 2025 Obligations and the terms thereof as the 
executing Authorized Official determines to be necessary or appropriate and consistent with this 
Resolution, in order to more fully effectuate the intent of this Resolution, including but not limited 
to (a) the identity of the Original Purchaser or Purchasers of the Series 2025 Obligations (b) the 
date or dates of the Series 2025 Obligations; (c) the number of series of the Series 2025 
Obligations, whether a series of Series 2025 Obligations shall be taxable or tax-exempt, senior 
or subordinate and the principal amount of each series of Series 2025 Obligations; (d) the maturity 
dates, interest rates and any redemption provisions applicable to the Series 2025 Obligations; 
and (e) the purchase price or prices of the Series 2025 Obligations, provided that such terms and  
other terms of the Series 2025 Obligations and the sale thereof may be specified in the Certificate 
of Award or in the Funding Loan Agreement, including the amount of the Issuer’s fees for its 
commitment to, and facilitation and administration of the transactions contemplated hereby, to be 
paid from the proceeds of the Series 2025 Obligations or otherwise.  All matters determined in 
the Certificate of Award, as the same may be amended from time to time, or in the Funding Loan 
Agreement shall be conclusive and binding.  In the event that the Authorized Official determines 
that it is in the best interests of the Issuer, the full principal amount of the Series 2025 Obligations 
may be issued on more than one date, provided that no Series 2025 Obligations may be issued 
later than June 30, 2026unless an extension is deemed reasonable and appropriate by an 
Authorized Official. 

Each Authorized Official is authorized, acting alone or together with any other Authorized 
Official, to make the necessary arrangements with the Original Purchaser to establish the date, 
location, procedures and conditions for the delivery of the Series 2025 Obligations to the Original 
Purchaser and to take all steps necessary to effect due execution, authentication and delivery of 
Series 2025 Obligations to, or at the direction of, the Original Purchaser under the terms of this 
Resolution, the Funding Loan Agreement and the Project Loan Agreement. 

Section 5. Allocation of Proceeds of Series 2025 Obligations.  The proceeds derived from the 
sale of Series 2025 Obligations shall be allocated and deposited as provided in the Funding Loan 
Agreement.  All funds, accounts and subaccounts contemplated by the Funding Loan Agreement 
to be created are authorized hereby to be created and shall be used without further legislative 
action for the purposes specified in the Funding Loan Agreement.  The proceeds of the Series 
2025 Obligations are hereby appropriated for the purpose of paying costs of Developing the 
Project including, without limitation, the payment of any costs related thereto. 

Section 6. Security for the Series 2025 Obligations.  The Series 2025 Obligations shall be 
special obligations of the Issuer and, except as permitted otherwise under the Funding Loan 



  
 

 
 

38 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Agreement, the Bond Service Charges on the Series 2025 Obligations shall be equally and ratably 
payable solely as described in the Funding Loan Agreement. 

Anything herein, or in the Series 2025 Obligations or in any other Operative Document to 
the contrary, the Series 2025 Obligations do not and shall not pledge the general credit or taxing 
power of the Issuer or of the State or any political subdivision thereof.  Nothing herein or in the 
Series 2025 Obligations or in any other Operative Document gives the holders or owners of any 
Series 2025 Obligations, and they do not have, the right to have taxes levied by the Issuer, the 
General Assembly of the State of Ohio or taxing authority of any political subdivision of the State 
for the payment of Bond Service Charges.  The Series 2025 Obligations shall contain a statement 
to that effect and to the effect that the Series 2025 Obligations are payable solely from the sources 
described in the Funding Loan Agreement and from any other money paid by the Lessee or 
obtained by the Fiscal Agent upon the exercise of rights and remedies under the Funding Loan 
Agreement or the Lease Agreement.  Nothing in the Series 2025 Obligations or the instruments 
securing them, however, shall be deemed to prohibit the Issuer from using, of its own volition, to 
the extent that it is authorized by law to do so, any other resources for the fulfillment of any of the 
terms or conditions of or its obligations under Funding Loan Agreement or any Series 2025 
Obligations. 

The Series 2025 Obligations shall be payable solely from the Project Revenues, and shall 
be secured, subject to and except as otherwise provided by the terms of the Funding Loan 
Agreement, equally and ratably by, (i) the Pledged Security (as defined in the Funding Loan 
Agreement), and; (ii) all right, title and interest of the Issuer now owned or hereafter acquired in, 
to and under the  Operative Agreements and the Regulatory Agreement, except Unassigned 
Rights (each as defined in the Funding Loan Agreement).  Nothing herein or in any Operative 
Document shall be deemed to prohibit the Issuer of its own volition, from using to the extent it is 
lawfully authorized to do so, any other resources or revenues for the fulfillment of any of the terms, 
conditions or obligations of the Series 2025 Obligations or any other Operative Document. 

Section 7. Operative Documents and all Other Documents to be Executed by the Issuer.  To 
provide for the issuance of, and to secure the timely payment of the Bond Service Charges on, 
the Series 2025 Obligations and the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under this 
Resolution, the Series 2025 Obligations and the Funding Loan Agreement, each Authorized 
Official, or any combination thereof, is hereby authorized, for and in the name and on behalf of 
the Issuer, to sign and deliver (a) any and all Operative Documents to which the Issuer is a party, 
all in forms consistent with the Term Sheet, with such modifications thereto as may be made in 
accordance with this Section 7 and (b) the Project Loan Agreement.  The forms of the Operative 
Documents are approved with such modifications thereto as are not inconsistent with this 
Resolution and not substantially adverse to the Issuer and which are permitted by the Act and 
shall be approved by the Authorized Official or Authorized Officials executing those documents.  
The approval of any such changes, and that such changes are not substantially adverse to the 
Issuer, shall be conclusively evidenced by the execution of those documents by the Authorized 
Official or those Authorized Officials. 

Each Authorized Official, or any combination thereof, is authorized to take any and all 
actions and to execute such further documents, including but not limited to agreements, financing 
statements, assignments, certificates and other instruments that may be necessary or appropriate 
in order to effect the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations, the financing, refinancing and 
Development of the Project and the intent of this Resolution, including, but not limited to the taking 



  
 

 
 

39 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

of such actions as may be necessary to permit the Development of the Project to commence prior 
to the issuance of Series 2025 Obligations and to take such actions or enter into such agreements 
with the City of Lima or the County of Allen in connection with the issuance of the Series 2025 
Obligations or in connection with the exemption of sales taxes on building and construction 
materials and services that might be authorized in connection with the Project under Section 
5739.02 of the Revised Code.  The Secretary of this Board or other appropriate officer of the 
Issuer shall certify a true transcript of all proceedings had with respect to the issuance of the 
Series 2025 Obligations, together with such information from the records of the Issuer as is 
necessary to determine the regularity and validity of the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations.  
All actions taken by any Authorized Official, employee, contractor or agent of the Issuer in 
furtherance of the purpose of this resolution is hereby ratified. 

Section 8. Covenants and Agreements of Authority.  In addition to the other covenants of the 
Issuer made in this Resolution and in the Operative Documents and such other tax agreements 
or certificates, arbitrage certificates or other documents relating to the tax status of the Tax-
Exempt Bonds (as defined below) (together with the Regulatory Agreement, the “Tax Agreement”) 
the Issuer further covenants and agrees as follows: 

(a) Performance of Covenants, Authority and Actions.  The Issuer will at all times faithfully observe 
and perform all agreements, covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in 
the Operative Documents and in all proceedings of the Issuer pertaining to the Series 2025 
Obligations.  The Issuer warrants and covenants that it is, and upon delivery of the Series 2025 
Obligations will be, duly authorized by the laws of the State, including particularly and without 
limitation the Act, to issue the Series 2025 Obligations and to execute the applicable Operative 
Documents and all other documents to be executed by it, to provide for the security for payment 
of the Bond Service Charges on the Series 2025 Obligations in the manner and to the extent 
herein and in the Funding Loan Agreement set forth. 

(b) Tax Matters.  To the extent within its authority and control, the Issuer will restrict the use of 
the proceeds of Series 2025 Obligations issued as tax-exempt bonds (“Tax-Exempt Bonds”) in 
such manner and to such extent as may be necessary, upon the advice of Bond Counsel, so that 
none of the Tax-Exempt Bonds will constitute arbitrage bonds under Section 148 of the Code.  
Each Authorized Official and any other officer of the Issuer having responsibility for the issuance 
of Tax-Exempt Bonds, alone or in conjunction with the Lessee or any officer, employee or agent 
of or consultant to the Lessee, shall sign and deliver the Tax Agreement, for inclusion in the 
transcript of proceedings for the Tax-Exempt Bonds setting forth the reasonable expectations of 
the Issuer regarding the amount and use of all of the proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds, the 
facts, circumstances and estimates on which they are based, and other facts and circumstances 
relevant to the tax treatment of the interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds. 

Upon the advice of Bond Counsel, the Issuer will (i) take, or require to be taken, to the extent 
within its authority and control, all actions that may be required of it for the interest on the Tax-
Exempt Bonds (as defined in the previous paragraph) to be and remain excludable from the gross 
income of holders of the Tax-Exempt Bonds for federal income tax purposes, and (ii) not take or 
authorize to be taken any actions that would adversely affect that excludability under the 
provisions of the Code.  Each Authorized Official and any other appropriate officer are hereby 
authorized and directed to take any and all actions and make or give such designations, reports 
and certifications, as may be appropriate to assure such exclusion of that interest. 



  
 

 
 

40 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

In its performance of these covenants, and other covenants of the Issuer pertaining to federal 
income tax laws, the Issuer may rely upon the advice of Bond Counsel. 

(c) Transcript of Proceedings.  An Authorized Official shall furnish to the Original Purchaser a true 
transcript of proceedings, certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of this Board, of all 
proceedings had with reference to the issuance of Series 2025 Obligations purchased by the 
Original Purchaser, together with such information from the records of the Issuer as is necessary 
to determine the regularity and validity of the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations so 
purchased. 

(d) Further Assurances. The Issuer shall do all things and take all actions on its part necessary to 
comply with the obligations, duties and responsibilities on its part under the Operative Documents.  
Nothing herein or in the Operative Documents shall be construed as requiring the Issuer to use 
any money from any source other than as described in the Funding Loan Agreement with respect 
to payment of Bond Service Charges on the Series 2025 Obligations or its obligations, duties and 
responsibilities under the Operative Documents. 

(e) Volume Cap.  Any Authorized Official is hereby authorized to take such actions as may be 
necessary to obtain a volume cap allocation from the State of Ohio; provided that the cost of any 
application or allocation shall be borne by the Lessee or paid from the proceeds of the Series 
2025 Obligations. 

Section 9. Public Approval.  This Board hereby authorizes the Director of Finance & Special 
Projects of the Issuer or any Authorized Official to hold a public hearing on behalf of the Issuer as 
required by Section 147(f) of the Code, and further to take such steps as may be necessary or 
advisable to provide for advance public notice of such hearing as required by Section 147(f) of 
the Code.  Any Authorized Official is authorized to take such actions as may be necessary to 
secure applicable elected representative approval  or approvals for the issuance of the Series 
2025 Obligations from the City of Toledo, Ohio, City of Lima, Ohio, the County of Allen, Ohio,  or 
the County of Lucas, Ohio, as required by Section 147(f) of the Code. 

Section 10. Acquisition and Development of the Project.  Based on information furnished to it, 
the Board has determined that any contract or contracts for the acquisition of the Project Site shall 
be made in accordance with this paragraph, and in order to serve the Project Purposes, it is in 
the best interest of the Issuer that such contract be negotiated by the Lessee and that any such 
contract or contracts, including any such contract as may result from the assignment or exercise 
of options available to the Lessee, shall be and hereby are accepted by the Issuer upon review 
and approval thereof by an Authorized Official. 

Based on information furnished to it, this Board has determined that the Construction 
Contracts shall be made in accordance with this paragraph, and that it is in the best interest of 
the Issuer that the Construction Contracts for the construction of the Project Facilities be 
negotiated by the Construction Service Provider on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the 
Construction Service Provider Agreement and this Board hereby finds and determines that such 
negotiation best carries out the Project Purposes.  This Board hereby approves the appointment 
of Lima Towers Acquisition, L.P. as its construction services provider, and not its agent under the 
Construction Service Provider Agreement for purposes of Development of the Project Facilities 
and authorizes the Construction Service Provider to execute and deliver, in its own name, such 
contracts relating to the Development of the Project as may be necessary provide for the 
construction of the Project Facilities, all as permitted by the Act.  Provided further, if requested by 



  
 

 
 

41 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

the Construction Service Provider and after review thereof by legal counsel, one or more 
Authorized Officials may execute the Construction Contracts or any agreements related thereto 
in the form approved by the Authorized Official signing thereof, provided that any obligation of the 
Issuer thereunder shall be payable solely from the proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 
2025 Obligations or from the Lessee, and any such agreement or contract shall be subject to the 
certification of availability of funds by the fiscal officer of the Issuer. 

It is further determined that prior to the issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations, the 
Construction Service Provider may, at its own risk, commence the Development of the Project on 
behalf of the Authority.  Any Authorized Official is authorized to execute such documentation and 
agreements as may be reasonably necessary or desired by the Authorized Official to permit the 
Construction Service Provider to exclude from sales taxes any building and construction materials 
to be purchased on behalf of the Issuer for the Project, it being understood that subsequent to the 
issuance of the Series 2025 Obligations that such purchase shall be made pursuant to the 
Construction Contracts and shall be incorporated in a structure or improvement to real property 
that will be accepted for ownership by the Issuer, provided that the Series 2025 Obligations are 
issued. 

Section 11. Tax Credit Determination.  In accordance with Section 42(m)(2)(D) of the Code, it 
is hereby determined that the amount of tax credits to be allocated to the Project under Section 
42 of the Code does not exceed the amount necessary for the financial feasibility of the Project 
and its viability as a qualified housing project throughout the credit period for the Project.  In 
making the foregoing determination, the Authority has solely relied upon representations of the 
Lessee.  The foregoing determinations shall not be construed to be a representation or warranty 
by the Authority as to the feasibility or viability of the Project.  The Board hereby authorizes any 
Authorized Official to review and make the foregoing determination again for and on behalf of the 
Authority at the request of the Lessee, following receipt of supporting materials submitted by the 
Lessee to the Ohio Housing Finance Agency ("OHFA") and either written representations of the 
Lessee or of OHFA to the effect that (i) the amount of tax credits to be allocated to the Project 
under Section 42 of the Code does not exceed the amount necessary for the financial feasibility 
of the Project and its viability as a qualified housing project throughout the credit period for the 
Project and (ii) the Project satisfies the requirements for the allocation of a housing credit dollar 
amount under OHFA’s qualified allocation plan.  Such determinations shall occur on or about the 
date of the sale of the Series 2025 Obligations to the purchasers thereof and on or about the date 
that each building of the Project is placed in service.  In reliance upon the representations of the 
Lessee, it is hereby found and determined that the Project satisfies the requirements for the 
allocation of a housing credit dollar amount under OHFA’s qualified allocation plan.  This Board 
further authorizes any additional determination after the date of this Resolution to be delegated 
to OHFA. 

Section 12. Observance and Performance of Agreements and Obligations.  The Issuer will 
observe and perform all of its agreements and obligations provided for in the Operative 
Documents and this Resolution; provided that nothing herein shall require the Issuer to spend its 
own funds to do so.  All the obligations under this Resolution are hereby established as duties 
specifically enjoined by law and resulting from an office, trust or station upon the Issuer within the 
meaning of Section 2731.01, Ohio Revised Code. 

Section 13. Compliance with Open Meeting Requirements.  It is found and determined that all 
formal actions of this Board concerning and relating to the adoption of this Resolution were taken 



  
 

 
 

42 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

in an open meeting of this Board, and that all deliberations of this Board that resulted in those 
formal actions, were in meetings open to the public in compliance with the law. 

Section 14. Severability.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Resolution shall 
be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 
paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this Resolution.  
In case any obligation of the Issuer authorized or established by this Resolution is held to be in 
violation of law as applied to any person in any circumstance, such obligation shall be deemed to 
be the obligation of the Issuer to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

Section 15. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in force immediately upon 
its adoption. 

Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas: Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:       _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary 

 



  
 

 
 

43 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 2 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Shipyard Road Improvement Project 

 

The Port Authority has identified the need to construct a paved roadway at the 

Toledo Shipyard to replace a gravel driveway leading from the facility entrance apron to 

the area in between the small and large dry docks.  The new road will allow the shipyard 

crane, construction vehicles and employees to more safely and efficiently access the 

various areas of the shipyard.  The engineer’s estimate for total project cost is $516,995 

which includes the new road construction and repair to a concrete roadway in another 

portion of the shipyard. 

The Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) Office of Jobs and Commerce 

has agreed to contribute $206,798 in reimbursable grant funding to help move this project 

forward.  The project costs would be paid from Port Authority Reserves and/or previously 

appropriated capital improvement funds and then partially reimbursed by the Grant for 

eligible costs.       

The Finance & Development Committee recommends adoption of the following 

resolution authorizing the President to enter into all agreements necessary to accept the 

grant funds and to enter into agreements with engineering/design consultants and 

contractors to facilitate the project in accordance with the requirements of the ODOT 

Grant and the Port Authority’s selection process, with project costs, including up to an 

additional 10% contingency, to be paid from the Grant funds, Port Authority Reserves, 

and/or previously appropriated capital improvement funds. 

 



  
 

 
 

44 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 2 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

AUTHORIZING SHIPYARD ROAD IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

 

WHEREAS, the Toledo Shipyard is in need of a new paved roadway to replace a gravel 
roadway, and further requires concrete roadway repairs in another portion of the Shipyard, which 
overall Project is estimated to cost $516,995; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Port Authority has been awarded reimbursable grant funding from the 

Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) Office of Jobs and Commerce in the amount of 
$206,798 to assist with the costs of the Project;   

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority: 
 

That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to accept 
grant funds from the Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) Office of Jobs and Commerce 
in the amount of $206,798 (the “ODOT Grant”), and to enter into agreements as may be required 
for the Port Authority to receive the grant funds and/or administer the Shipyard Road Improvement 
Project, which agreements shall contain such terms and conditions as the President deems 
necessary or appropriate.   

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

agreements for the performance of the Project, including as applicable a determination of the 
lowest responsive and responsible bidders for the Project within the engineer’s estimate as 
determined by the President in his discretion following the Port Authority’s standard bidding 
process and in accordance with ODOT requirements, and which agreements shall include such 
terms and conditions as the President deems necessary and appropriate. 

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

any other instruments necessary or appropriate, including amendments, and to take all other 
actions as is necessary, in order to implement the terms of this resolution, provided such 
instruments are in a form approved by Counsel and approved in substance by the Vice President 
of Business Development.  

 
That the costs of the Project, including up to an additional ten percent (10%) contingency, 

shall be paid from Port Authority Reserves, which amount be and hereby is appropriated, and/or 
from previously appropriated funds, as determined appropriate by the President in his discretion, 
with such costs to be partially reimbursed by the ODOT Grant. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas: Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:       _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary



  
 

 
 

45 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 2a 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Exhibit A 

 

 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

46 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 3 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Acceptance of Small Community Air Service 

Development Program Grant from U.S. Department of 

Transportation and Authorize Air Service Development 

Agreements 

The U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) has issued a grant to the Port 

Authority in the amount of $1,000,000 from its Small Community Air Service Development 

(SCASD) Grant Program. This program is designed to assist small communities in 

securing and addressing commercial air service opportunities. The DOT has awarded the 

grant to the Port Authority pursuant to an application filed for the development of new air 

service to a FAA designated large US market as outlined in the grant application.  

The grant agreement requires acceptance of the terms and conditions, including a 

local share contribution, in-kind contributions and additional support from development 

partnerships. The Port Authority continues to engage in ongoing discussions with multiple 

airlines on securing new air service opportunities which may require the utilization of the 

SCASD grant as well as additional funding through various sources and agreements for 

the initiation of new service at Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport (TOL). As a result, 

it is necessary to have the necessary funding in place in an effort to move in a timely 

manner in securing future agreements for the launch of new air service at TOL.  

The Finance & Development Committee recommends adoption of the following 

resolution authorizing acceptance of the $1,000,000 U.S. DOT Small Community Air 

Service Development Program Grant Award, the acceptance of any future funding from 

 



  
 

 
 

47 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 3 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

other partnerships and programs, and the allocation of previously appropriated funds, 

other financial arrangements, and/or up to $3.5 million from Port Authority Reserves to 

satisfy local share requirements and as may be otherwise necessary to secure future air 

service agreements. 

 



  
 

 
 

48 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 3 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

AUTHORIZING ACCEPTANCE OF SMALL COMMUNITY AIR SERVICE 

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM GRANT FROM U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION AND AUTHORIZING AIR SERVICE DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENTS   

 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Transportation has issued a grant to the Port Authority 
in the amount of $1,000,000 from the Small Community Air Service Development Grant Program 
(the “Grant”) to assist in the development of commercial air service opportunities at the Eugene 
F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport; and   

 
WHEREAS, the Grant agreement requires a local share contribution, in-kind contributions, 

and additional support from development partnerships; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Port Authority continues to engage in discussions with multiple airlines on 

securing new air service which may require utilization of the Grant funds as well as additional 
funding through various sources;     

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority: 
 

That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to accept 
a grant in the amount of $1,000,000 from the U.S. Department of Transportation Small Community 
Air Service Development Grant Program and to enter into agreements as may be required to 
receive and/or administer the grant funds. 

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to accept 

future funding from partnerships and/or programs related to commercial air service opportunities 
at Eugene F. Kranz Toledo Express Airport (the “Airport”) and to enter into agreements as may 
be required to receive and/or administer such funds. 

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to enter 

into agreements related to air service development at the Airport, which agreements shall contain 
such terms and conditions, and provide such incentives, as determined appropriate by the 
President in his discretion.  

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

any other instruments necessary or appropriate, including amendments, and to take all other 
actions as is necessary and appropriate, in order to implement the terms of this resolution, 
provided such instruments are in a form approved by Counsel.  

 
 
 
  
 



  
 

 
 

49 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (A) 3 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to allocate 
previously appropriated funds, other financial sources, and up to $3.5 million from Port Authority 
Reserves to satisfy local share requirements and as otherwise necessary to secure commercial 
air service opportunities at the Airport. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas: Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:       _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

50 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (B) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Contract for Parking Structures Restoration 2025 

at Port Lawrence, Superior & Vistula Parking Structures 

Consistent with the Port Authority’s parking garage restoration plan and the 2025 

Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), the following project has been identified for the Port 

Lawrence, Superior and Vistula Parking Structures. The Port Lawrence Structure work 

consists of structural concrete repairs, post-tensioning repairs, exploratory excavations 

and repairs, installation of joint sealants, installation of traffic coatings, and repainting of 

pavement markings. The Superior Structure work consists of structural concrete repairs 

replacement/installation of joint sealants, and installation of traffic coatings at the stair 

tower. The Vistula Structure work consists of structural concrete repairs, route and seal 

concrete cracks, and reconditioning of handrail support posts.  Also included in this 

project is an allowance to purchase light fixtures for the parking structures to be installed 

by others.   

Bids for the project were received on June 17, 2025, following the Port Authority’s 

standard public bid process for projects over $100,000. The engineer’s estimate for all 3  

parking structures is approximately $400,000.  

Bidder & Location Base Bid Total 

Pullman SST, Inc. 
Trenton, MI 

$284,825.00 

RAM Construction Services of Michigan, Inc. 
Livonia, MI 

$354,165.00 

Great Lakes Concrete Restoration Inc. 
Toledo, OH 

$449,748.00 

Gutknecht Construction Co. 
Columbus, OH 

$564,271.00 
 

 



  
 

 
 

51 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (B) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

The lowest responsive and responsible bid received for the Restoration 2025 

project at Port Lawrence, Superior, and Vistula Parking Structures is recommended to be 

Pullman SST, Inc., with a base bid in the amount of $284,825.00, which is under the 

engineer’s estimate for the project.    

The Planning & Operations Committee recommends approval of the following 

resolution authorizing the President to enter into a contract with Pullman SST, Inc., in an 

amount not to exceed $284,825.00, and authorizing payment, including up to an 

additional 10% contingency. This project will be paid from 2024 ParkSmart capital 

improvement funds. 



  
 

 
 

52 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (B) 1 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

AUTHORIZING CONTRACT FOR PARKING STRUCTURES RESTORATION 2025 

AT PORT LAWRENCE, SUPERIOR & VISTULA PARKING STRUCTURES  

(PULLMAN SST, INC.)  

 

WHEREAS, the Port Lawrence, Superior, and Vistula parking structures are in need of 
restoration as identified in the Port Authority’s 2025 Capital Improvement Plan (the “Project”); and  

 
WHEREAS, following the receipt of public bids, Pullman SST, Inc. submitted a bid in the 

amount of $284,825 for the Project, which amount includes an allowance for light fixtures, which 
bid is below the engineer’s estimate;  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority: 
 

That the bid submitted by Pullman SST, Inc. be and hereby is determined to be the lowest 
responsive and responsible bid for the Parking Structures Restoration 2025 Project. 

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

an agreement with Pullman SST, Inc. for the Project, in the amount of $284,825.00, which 
agreement shall include such terms and conditions as the President deems necessary and 
appropriate. 

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

any other instruments necessary or appropriate, including amendments and change orders, in 
order to implement the terms of this resolution, provided such instruments are in a form approved 
by Counsel and approved in substance by the Director of Facilities & Development Services.  

 
That the costs of the Project, and up to an additional Ten Percent (10%) contingency, shall 

be paid from ParkSmart capital improvement funds.   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas: Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:       _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary 

 

 

 



  
 

 
 

53 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (B) 2 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

Consider Acceptance of Roadway Development (629) Funds 

from Ohio Department of Development for Project at 

Farnsworth Business Park 

In June 2024, the Port Board authorized the construction of a new roadway, 

utilities, and associated work, including a stormwater detention pond, new asphalt 

pavement, concrete curbs, drainage system, waterline with hydrants, sanitary sewer, 

lighting, signage, landscaping, and other ancillary work on the Port Authority’s property 

at Farnsworth Business Park. The project, estimated to cost $2,600,000, was to be 

funded with grant funds and other external funds and/or other previously appropriated 

funds. The Ohio Department of Development has agreed to fund a portion of the project 

by contributing up to $1,182,761 in grant funding through the Roadway Development 

(629) Grant Program.    

The Planning & Operations Committee recommends authorizing the President to 

execute a grant agreement and to take all other actions as is necessary to accept 

approximately $1,182,761 in grant funding from the Ohio Department of Development to 

be utilized for the project as described above.     

 

 



  
 

 
 

54 
 
 

June 26, 2025 

Agenda Item VII (B) 2 
 Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 

 

AUTHORIZING ROADWAY DEVELOPMENT (629) FUNDS FROM OHIO 

DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT FOR FARNSWORTH BUSINESS PARK 

 

WHEREAS, in June 2024, the Board of Directors authorized the construction of a new 
roadway, utilities, and associated work, including a stormwater detention pond, new asphalt 
pavement, concrete curbs, drainage system, waterline with hydrants, sanitary sewer, lighting, 
signage, landscaping, and other ancillary work at Farnsworth Business Park (the “Project”);   and   

 
WHEREAS, the Port Authority has been awarded grant funding from the Ohio Department 

of Development in an amount up to $1,182,761 through the Roadway Development (629) 
Program to assist with the costs of the Project;  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Toledo-Lucas 
County Port Authority: 
 

That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 
a grant agreement with the State of Ohio, Department of Development to accept the grant funds 
in the amount of $1,182,760.00 for the roadwork improvements at Farnsworth Business Park, 
which agreement shall contain such terms and conditions as the President deems necessary or 
appropriate.   

 
That the President, as Secretary and Fiscal Officer, be and hereby is authorized to execute 

any other instruments necessary or appropriate, including amendments, and to take all other 
actions as is necessary, in order to implement the terms of this resolution, provided such 
instruments are in a form approved by Counsel and approved in substance by the Vice President 
of Business Development.  

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Approved:  
       _________________________________ 

Yeas: Robin Whitney, Chair 
 

 Nays:       _________________________________ 
                 Thomas J. Winston, Secretary 

 

 

 


